
Agenda

Finance Panel (Panel of the 
Scrutiny Committee)

Date: Wednesday 16 January 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: Plowman Room, Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription.

Finance Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee)
Membership

Chair Councillor James Fry

Councillor Craig Simmons
Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan
Councillor Chewe Munkonge
Councillor Roz Smith
Councillor Tiago Corais



AGENDA
Pages

1  APOLOGIES
Substitutes are not allowed.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3  NOTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 7 - 12
To note the notes of the meeting held on 6 December 2018.

4  RECOMMENDATION FROM THE COMPANIES SCRUTINY PANEL
To consider a recommendation referred to the Finance Panel by the 
Companies Panel:

At its December meeting, the Companies Panel recommended to the 
Scrutiny Finance Panel that: as Oxford City Housing Limited’s (OCHL) 
business plan impacted on the Council’s medium term financial plan and its 
budget, the Scrutiny Finance Panel should look carefully at OCHL’s 
proposals and the Council’s own housing programme, reviewing proposed 
borrowing and the impact on long term finances for both the Council and the 
Housing Revenue Account. 

The Panel is asked to consider whether and how to take this issue forward. 

5  COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2019/20 13 - 40
To consider the proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme and feedback from 
the public Consultation. This report will be presented to the City Executive 
Board on 22 January, for subsequent recommendation to Full Council. 

6  TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 41 - 58
To consider the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report which will be 
presented to the City Executive Board on 22 January. 

7  WORK PLAN 59 - 60
For the Panel to note and agree its work plan, which can be adjusted to 
reflect the wishes of the Panel.

8  FUTURE MEETING DATES
Meetings are scheduled as follows:
30 January 2019
4 April 2019 
1 July 2019
5 September 2019
7 November 2019

All meetings start at 6.00pm.



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife 
or as if they were civil partners.



Minutes of a meeting of the 
FINANCE PANEL (PANEL OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE)
on Thursday 6 December 2018 

Committee members:
Councillor Fry (Chair) Councillor Altaf-Khan
Councillor Roz Smith Councillor Corais

Officers: 
Nigel Kennedy, Head of Financial Services
Amanda Durnan, Strategic Procurement and Payments Manager
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer

91. Apologies 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Simmons and Munkonge. 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Corais. Councillor Simmons 
provided comments in advance of the meeting specifically concerning the Social Value 
report, which the Panel addressed during its discussion. 

92. Declarations of interest 
There were no declarations of interest. 

93. Notes of previous meeting 
The Panel asked that they receive more information on the current Legal Services 
revenue position. 

The Panel resolved to agree the notes of the previous meeting.  

94. Budget Review Group Scoping Document 
The Panel discussed and agreed that it did not want to consider the detail of Fusion 
Lifestyle’s performance or financing, in light of the ongoing oversight of the issue by the 
Council’s Scrutiny Committee, and the wish not to duplicate its work. It was noted that 
the Panel would have preferred to have 3 consecutive daily meetings for the Budget 
Review Group (instead on 2), and that other Council business had limited officer 
availability. 

The Panel agreed the Scoping Document as presented. 

5

Agenda Item 3



95. Monitoring Social Value 
Amanda Durnan, Strategic Procurement and Payments Manager, introduced the report. 
She explained that in preparing the report, she had looked at other best practice 
authorities that champion social value through the procurement process. Oxford City 
Council compared well to other local authorities, in terms of spend with local 
businesses and wider consideration of social value. Spend with local companies 
peaked in July 2018 at 73.6%. Another local example of social value through contracts 
was the prioritisation of low sugar products at the Town Hall cafe, for example. 

The report also highlighted a number of ways to improve the level of influence social 
value had in the procurement process, including providing a scored weighting to social 
value outputs, and updating the Councils Environmental, Sustainability and Ethical 
Policies to draw attention to the requirements of the Social Value Act 2012. It was 
explained that the Council’s current weighting in awarding contracts was 60% for 
quality and 40% for value / cost. The Panel was pleased to note the emphasis on 
quality in contracts. 

The Panel discussed the challenges of monitoring whether social value had been 
delivered, given its subjective nature. One example of social value that the Panel 
wished to see in the awarding of contracts related to whether contractors paid their 
employees the Oxford Living Wage. However, it was recognised that as private 
companies, the Council had no role or right in knowing the salaries paid by an external 
contractor, beyond assurances that they are legally compliant. In response to 
questions, it was clarified that businesses were offered support by the Council to 
access and use the procurement portal, but there had been a low level of take up on 
this.

The Panel noted that social value was also delivered through the Council’s Grants 
Programme to voluntary and community organisations, but it was not clear where these 
grants were scrutinised and reviewed to ensure they were delivering on the Council’s 
objectives. The Panel wanted to understand where the transparency was in the grant 
awarding and review process, and asked that this question be put to the Council’s 
Welfare Reform Manager. For example, it was not understood why Bicester Green Re-
use Centre had been awarded a grant, because it was outside of the City. 

The Panel supported the principle of providing a weighting to tender bids which could 
demonstrate social value. Whilst there were specific European Union Contract 
Regulations (OJEU) which set out how social value must be taken into account for 
contracts of more than £181,000, there was more autonomy for local authorities to give 
a greater social value weighing to contracts below this level of spend. Manchester City 
Council for example had a target of 10% of the quality score in awarding contracts (as 
opposed to the cost / value score) being based on social value when evaluating non 
OJEU tenders, and this was increased in November 2018 to 15% of the overall 
weighting. Bristol City Council similarly retained a 10% weighting. 

The Panel were of the view that where contractors can reliably demonstrate that they 
can meet the tender specification; account should also be taken of what role the 
contract can have in delivering the Council’s wider objectives. For example, where it is 
demonstrated that one contractor can reduce its impact on the environment over the life 

6



of the contract, this should be given reasonable weighting in the decision to award a 
contract. Based on examples at other Councils, and officer advice, the Panel wished to 
recommend that a 5% social value weighting is given in all non OJEU contracts, which 
should be reviewed and potentially increased annually. 

The Panel noted that the Council had a standard of paying local companies within 14 
days upon request. The Panel agreed to recommend that this standard should also be 
extended to payments for small and medium size enterprises and voluntary community 
sector organisations within 14 days. The Panel believed that employing local 
contractors was a means of generating social value in terms of local employment, and 
quick payments by the Council would no doubt be a welcome benefit for local 
contractors. 

The Panel noted that Green Public Procurement (GPP), which is championed by the 
European Commission, is a means of delivering social and environmental value 
through the awarding of public contracts. Compliance with the GPP, which is voluntary, 
requires the inclusion of clear and verifiable environmental criteria for products and 
services in the procurement process. 

The Panel recognised value in the procurement of goods, services and works with a 
reduced environmental impact throughout their life-cycle, compared to contracts of 
equal quality, which did not offer the same social value. Examples of where these 
standards may be applied included indoor cleaning services and refurbishment 
contracts. It was noted that many of the Council’s contractors and services already had 
regard to these standards, but they were not applied universally throughout the 
organisation. 

The Panel noted that the Council’s Environmental, Sustainability and Ethical Polices do 
not contain details about the Council’s duties under the Social Value Act 2012. It was 
suggested that the Council should update these policies to reflect this. However, the 
Panel first wanted to understand more detail about how these policies would be 
updated, before such a change could be recommended.

Resolved

That the Finance Panel recommends to the City Executive Board:

1) to consider introducing a 5% social value weighting for all non OJEU 
procurement requirements within the Council, which should be reviewed 
annually (and reported to the Finance Panel) to consider whether subsequent 
increases are appropriate. This change should be subsequently recommended 
to Council for incorporation in the next Constitution review. 

2) that the Council sets a target of making payments to small and medium size 
enterprises and voluntary community sector organisations within 14 days of a 
contract being agreed, where it is requested.

3) That the Council should seek to apply the Green Public Procurement Policy on 
all of its future contracts, and that these requirements are highlighted to all 
prospective companies seeking to bid for a Council contact. 

7



96. Integrated Report for Quarter 2 2018/19 
The Head of Financial Services, Nigel Kennedy, explained that there had been an 
adverse variance on the General Fund position of £0.154m against a net budget of 
£22.098m. An additional £0.300m was expected to be returned to the Council from 
Oxford Direct Services Limited. There was a £0.494m adverse variance arising from a 
decline in car parking income which was offset in part by £0.400m of favourable 
variance due to higher than expected business rates income from the Westgate Centre. 
There were only a small number of units left to receive a business rates valuation by 
the Valuation Office. Nigel also highlighted that 7 of the Council’s eleven corporate 
performance targets were being met, 3 were within an acceptable tolerance limit, and 1 
was at risk related to housing. 

It was also noted during questions that the pedestrianisation of Queen Street (£0.500m) 
had slipped into 2019/20, as the Council was waiting for progress to be made by the 
County Council. Spending of £3.353 million for the 1-5 George Street project had also 
slipped into 2019/20. The issue of local government reorganisation was still considered 
a risk, but there was it was expected that there would be little movement on the issue in 
the short term. 

The Panel asked about the four new risks identified in the report:

 Terrorism 
 Business Continuity Planning & Disaster Recovery 
 Resilience of Trading Models 
 Health & Safety (Buildings)

It was clarified that these risks had not become more significant; only that it had been 
decided they should be added to the risks report. It was also noted that the planning 
permission had expired for the Council to be able to use the OxPENS decked car park. 
Any reapplication for planning permission would be of significant cost to the Council. 
There had also been a delay in the transfer of land from the Council to OxWED.

The Chair remarked that capital slippage continues to be an area that needs 
improvement, and that overall slippage in the capital programme was disappointing. 
The Panel agreed that this was an issue that needed to be focussed on. It was 
suggested that the new Project Management Office within the Council would be able to 
look at issue such as slippage, and provide better cross-council oversight to foresee 
possible delays and better forecast capital spend. The Panel indicated that it wanted to 
hear more about the work of the Project Management Office at a future meeting. 

The Panel noted that there had been a minimal amount of spend against the planned 
Go Ultra Low budget for 2018/19, and asked that they receive more information on why 
this was the case. It was noted that the Pilot was on the Scrutiny Committee’s work 
plan, but there was not yet a report timetabled for consideration. The Panel asked they 
receive an explanation as to the delays in the project, and reasons for the lack of 
spending on the project. 

Councillor Corais arrived during this item. 

8



97. Work plan 
The Panel noted its Work Plan. 

98. Future Meeting Dates 
The Panel note the next meeting dates for the Budget Review Group on 8 and 9 
January, and the combined meeting dates with the Finance Panel on 16 and 30 
January 2019. 

The meeting started at 7:45pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  16 January 2019

9



This page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 22 January 2019
Report of: Head of Financial Services
Title of Report: Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To consider the feedback from the recent consultation 

on the proposed changes to the Council Tax Support 
Scheme and to agree the principles of the new scheme 
to be drawn up for approval by Council on 28th 
January 2019

Key decision: Yes
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Christine Simm, Supporting Local 
Communities

Corporate Priority: Meeting housing need; Efficient, effective council.
Policy Framework: Financial Inclusion Strategy.

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Note the outcome of the consultation on the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme;

2. Delegate authority to the Head of Financial Services to draft the details of 
the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 so that it can be 
submitted to Council for approval at its meeting on the 28th January 
2019; and

3. Recommend Council to resolve to adopt the new Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20.

Appendices
Appendix 1 Response to consultation
Appendix 2 Risk Register
Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment 

Introduction and background 
1. The previous Council tax benefit where people on benefits had some or all of their 

Council tax paid was stopped by the Government in April 2013. It was replaced with 
the council tax reduction scheme that was mainly funded by a Government grant. 

11

Agenda Item 5



Councils are required to review their Council Tax Reduction Scheme (“CTR”) for 
working age recipients on an annual basis and determine whether to revise it or not. 
The scheme that exists for pension age recipients is a national scheme prescribed 
by regulations and cannot be varied locally.

2. In order to change its CTR the council is required by law to:
 Consult with the major precepting authorities
 Consult with other persons it considers are likely to have an interest in the 

operation of the scheme
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme itself must be adopted by Council, it cannot 
be delegated to an officer or committee.

3. Local Schemes must take account of and support:
 Work incentives and in particular avoid disincentives for those moving into 

work
 The Council’s duties to protect vulnerable people (under the Equality Act 

2010, The Care Act 2014, Child Poverty Act 2010, The Housing Act 1996)
 The Armed Forces Covenant

Proposed changes to scheme
4. At its meeting on the 18 September 2018, the City Executive Board (“CEB”) agreed 

to consult on a new CTR Scheme for 2019/20. Public consultation was undertaken 
from 28 September 2018 to 18 November 2018. The views of the major preceptors, 
Oxfordshire County Council and The Thames Valley Police Commissioner have 
also been sought. 

5. Prior to recommending consultation to the CEB, officers considered a range of 
options for changing the CTR scheme for 2019/20 onwards. This included options 
to reduce the cost of the scheme by introducing a minimum charge for all residents, 
capping the amount of support that is provided at the level of a Band D council tax 
charge, or reducing the amount of capital that can be held by a recipient whilst still 
qualifying for support. These options were rejected as they risked putting further 
pressure on households struggling with reductions in benefits, low wages and 
increasing household costs. These options will need to be revisited in future years 
due to the increasing cost of the CTR scheme to the Council.

6. Only two proposals for change were submitted for consultation. Both proposals 
relate to a review of two measures which were introduced this financial year; the 
income band scheme for residents on Universal Credit, and the minimum income 
floor for self-employed people. The consultation proposed uprating the income 
bands and sought views on the minimum income floor which had received some 
criticism for treating self-employed people differently from those who are employed.

7. The existing income bandings used to determine the amount of Council Tax 
support provided are shown in Table 1 below.

12



Table 1.

Band Weekly Income Discount received No. of cases per 
band

1 £0 - £125.99 100% 682
2 £126 - £187.99 75% 163
3 £188 - £290.99 50% 88
4 £291 - £384.99 25% 15
5 £385 0%

The rationale for the figures is:
 £126 is 16 hours on the National Minimum Wage (“NMW”) rounded upwards, 

(and is at a level which ensures households who previously received 100% 
reduction continue to do so)

 £188 is 24 hours on the NMW rounded upwards
 £291 is 30 hours on the Oxford living wage (“OLW”), rounded upwards
 £385 is the benefit cap

8. It is proposed that the income bands should be uprated annually in line with 
changes to the National Minimum Wage (NMW) and the Oxford Living Wage 
(OLW), and that the benefit cap, be uprated in line with inflation (based on the Retail 
Price Index figure for September 2018). These changes would have no significant 
impact on the amount of support provided by the Council, and will ensure that no-
one has to pay more council tax as a result of receiving a small pay rise. The 
proposed income bandings based on the methodology above are shown in Table 2 
below. The figures have been calculated using the 2019 figures for the NMW and 
the OLW which are £8.21 and £10.02 per hour respectively. The band 5 value has 
been uprated by 3.3% which is the RPI figure for September 2018.

Table 2
Band

Weekly Income Discount received

1
£0 - £131.99 100%

2 £132 - £197.99 75%
3 £198 - £300.99 50%
4 £301 - £397.99 25%
5 £398 0%

9. In respect of the minimum income floor for self employed claimants, based on the 
consultation responses and inequalities in this aspect of the scheme (identified by 
officers and councillors through feedback and administration of the scheme), it is 
proposed that this measure be removed from the 2019/20 CTR scheme. Alternative 
options which were considered included reducing the level of the floor, exempting 
some types of self-employment from the floor and extending the exemption for new 
businesses. Whilst there was some support for these options in the consultation, all 
these options would still leave self-employed people being treated differently from 

13



people earning a salary. Removing the minimum income floor means that support 
for self-employed people will be based on their actual earnings.

Summary of consultation

10. Appendix 1 provides details of the responses to the consultation on the proposed 
changes to the CTR scheme. Although only 25 responses were received, many 
answers were very detailed and showed a good understanding of the issues. The 
responses also contained some feedback that the consultation document itself was 
confusing. In view of the detailed responses received that show a good 
understanding of the issues it is considered that the consultation has been effective 
and the Council has complied with the legislative requirements for consultation.  
However, officers will take this feedback on board when drafting consultation on this 
issue in the future. 

11. In relation to the income band aspect of the scheme, a majority of respondents both 
agreed with the principle of the income banding, and with the proposed uprating.

12. On the proposals for amending the minimum income floor, there was some support 
for changing the level of the floor, but overwhelmingly respondents said that there 
should be no minimum income floor in the CTR for self employed claimants. 
Eighteen respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed with continuing to 
maintain this aspect of the CTR. There was a small majority against exempting 
some types of self-employment from the minimum income floor, and a large majority 
in favour of increasing the exemption period for new businesses from one to three 
years. 

13. A number of comments were received in respect of the way the national council tax 
scheme operates. This included the structure of the Council tax bands, the absence 
of any revaluation of properties since council tax was introduced in 1993 and the 
liability of tenants for the charge. Oxford City Council has no power to amend these 
features of the council tax

Implementation

14. There will be some administrative work required to implement the amendments to 
the CTR and to inform the public about the changes. This includes revising the 
CTR, amending the functionality of the software used for administering CTR, 
amending local processes, training staff and producing communications for the 
Council’s customers. 

Financial Implications
15. Oxford City Council is one of a small number of Councils whose CTR scheme has 

maintained the same level of financial support as existed within the old Council Tax 
Benefit scheme. Most councils have reduced the cost of their CTR schemes by 
providing a lower level of support. Oxford City Council’s scheme will cost £1.4m for 
the current financial year, and from 2019 will cost a minimum of £1.6m. An increase 
in the number of CTR claims will increase this cost further.

14



16. The table below sets out the cost and caseload for the Council’s CTR scheme since 
its introduction. The cost of the scheme is shared by Oxford City Council (15.9%), 
Oxfordshire County Council (74.6%) and Thames Valley Police and Crime 
Commissioner (9.5%) in accordance with the proportion of Council Tax levied by 
each. The table shows that the gap between the net and gross cost to the Council is 
narrowing as government grant reduces. The gross cost to the Council has 
remained broadly unchanged for the last four years. This is because despite 
Council Tax levels increasing significantly in this period, the number of recipients of 
support has reduced.

Table 3 
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Cost of Pension Age £3,567,670 £3,557,466 £3,326,142 £3,274,619 £3,172,713 £3,284,610
Pension Age caseload 3,572 3,424 3,261 3,122 3,056 2,990
Cost of Working Age £6,593,636 £6,485,387 £6,234,439 £6,357,253 £6,318,785 £6,541,638
Working age caseload 6,434 6,121 5,963 5,841 5,666 5,558
Total Cost £10,161,306 £10,042,852 £9,560,581 £9,631,872 £9,491,498 £9,826,248
Total Caseload 10,006 9,545 9,224 8,963 8,722 8,548

Gross Council Cost £1,712,631 £1,626,667 £1,575,329 £1,572,711 £1,546,165 £1,561,391
Net Cost to Council -£11,785 £193,396 £523,977 £875,604 £1,230,572 £1,425,212

17. The current cost of the CTR scheme has been factored into the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan with no reductions over the next 4 year period assumed. The 
actual cost of the scheme to the Council will depend on claimant numbers and the 
amount of discount given which reduced the Council’s tax base and hence the 
amount of council tax income raised. The proposed changes to the scheme will lead 
to a small increase in the scheme’s cost. The bandings in the income band scheme 
are being uprated in line with expected increases in wages, and so this change 
should ensure current recipients of support stay in the same band despite their pay 
rises. As such this will have a neutral impact on cost. The introduction of the 
minimum income floor was forecast to save £25,000 in any financial year. As such, 
reversing the measure will restore this cost to the scheme.

18. Only approximately 17% of the total cost of the scheme will fall on the Council, the 
balance falling on Thames Valley Police Crime Commissioner and Oxfordshire 
County Council. Consequently, in order for the Council to save £1 the cost of the 
scheme must reduce by £6. Reducing the amount of support provided to claimants 
will also lead to some administrative costs being incurred in the collection of any 
additional Council Tax charged.

Legal issues

19. In considering changes to the CTR scheme, the Council must take into account the 
provisions of The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 
(England) 2012 and subsequent amendments.

20. The Council is required to consult on any proposed changes to CTR in accordance 
with Section 13A and Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

15



which require the preparation of a scheme. Before making a scheme, the Council 
must (in the following order)—
(a) Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it;
(b) Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit; and
(c) Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the 
operation of the scheme. Consideration must be given to the finding of the 
consultation and equality impact assessment in reaching a decision. Paragraphs 4-
9 of this report set out the proposed changes to the scheme and the consultation 
that was carried out is explained in paragraphs 10-13.

Level of risk
21. A risk register is attached at Appendix two. 

Equalities impact 
22. The changes proposed in this report do not have any new equality impacts attached 

to them and in fact removes an inequality that existed by treating self employed 
earners differently to employed earners.  A revised equality impact assessment to 
reflect the proposals is attached as appendix 3.

Report author James Pickering

Job title Welfare Reform Manager
Service area or department Welfare Reform Team
Telephone 07483 010235
e-mail jpickering@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

16



Appendix 1
Consultation on changes to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme

This document collates the responses to the Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme 
consultation carried out between 28 September 2018 and 18 November 2018. Twenty five 
complete responses were received to the consultation. The comments received indicate that 
responses have been received from both people who claim CTR, and people who don’t.

All the responses were from individuals rather than organisations. The responses to the two 
proposals for change are shown below. There was strong support for uprating the bandings 
used in the income band scheme. In respect of the minimum income floor, there was a high 
level of disapproval, and strong support for not having a floor.

Comments are collated at the end of the document, together with the Council’s responses 
where required. 

Income band scheme for households in receipt of Universal Credit 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the use of income bands to decide how 
much support people get to pay their Council Tax?
 Strongly Agree 4
 Agree 10
 Unsure  6
 Disagree 3
 Strongly Disagree 1

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to uprate the income bands 
from 2019/20?
 Strongly Agree 2
 Agree 9
 Unsure  7
 Disagree 4
 Strongly Disagree 3

Minimum income floor for self-employed people
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the principle that the council should 
assume a minimum income level for CTR claimants who are self-employed?
 Strongly Agree 3
 Agree 3
 Unsure  4
 Disagree 14
 Strongly Disagree 4

The minimum income floor for CTR claimants who are self-employed is 35 hours at the 
National Minimum Wage. What level do you think the minimum income floor should be 
set at?
 35 hours at the national minimum wage 3
 30-35 hours at the national minimum wage 2
 24-30 hours at the national minimum wage 1
 16-24 hours at the national minimum wage 2
 Below 16 hours at the national minimum wage 1
 There should be no minimum income level 16

17



Appendix 1
It is difficult for people to increase their earnings in some types of self-employment (such 
as child-minders). To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Council should 
exempt some types of self-employment from the minimum income floor?
 Strongly Agree 7
 Agree 2
 Unsure  7
 Disagree 4
 Strongly Disagree 7

New businesses are exempt from the minimum income floor for their first year of 
operation. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Council should increase this 
exemption from one to three years?
 Strongly Agree 8
 Agree 6
 Unsure  8
 Disagree 2
 Strongly Disagree 1

As some of the proposals in the consultation reduce the support people receive, the Council 
was required to consult on alternatives to making these changes. This included increasing 
the level of Council Tax, finding savings by cutting other Council services and increasing 
fees and charges. The responses to these proposals were as follows.

Increase the level of Council Tax

 Strongly Agree 2
 Agree 3
 Neither agree nor disagree 11
 Disagree 5
 Strongly Disagree 4

Find savings from cutting other Council services

 Strongly Agree 0
 Agree 5
 Neither agree nor disagree 8
 Disagree 4
 Strongly Disagree 8

Increase fees and charges

 Strongly Agree 1
 Agree 6
 Neither agree nor disagree 11
 Disagree 3
 Strongly Disagree 5

18



Appendix 1
Appendix One – Comments and Council responses

Income band scheme for Universal Credit customers

1. this is confusing . Most help should go to those with least and/those who have 
special needs from disability or dependants. Is this what will be achieved?
Response: The scheme provides more support to people on lower incomes. Income 
received froim benefit payments in relation to disability are not counted when 
assessing the level of support. Universal Credit payments in respect of dependants, 
disability and caring responsibilities are also not counted.

2. It makes sense to assess income when working out the affordability of Council Tax 
for low earners, however, the use of flat percentages in the discount does not seem 
to take into account the different rates of council tax paid because of the property 
bands so, someone who lives in a higher rated property will pay more than someone 
in a lower rated property even if they are on the same income. I don't know how to 
mitigate for this, but since it is difficult to choose where you live, especially if you rent 
your property, people effectively don't have a choice about what council tax band the 
property they live in is.
Response: Support is calculated as a percentage of the Council Tax charge, so if you 
receive a 50% discount this will be more in a Band D property than in a Band C 
property. However the amount you have to pay will also be higher. This is a feature 
of the Council Tax scheme that is set by the government, and Oxford City Council 
has no control over it.

3. I disagree to the extent that you do not take into consideration self-employed people, 
people with disabilities or single parents. You need to include these categories and 
take into account their different circumstances which do not necessarily align with 
people on low incomes.
Response: The scheme does not completely account for individual circumstances, 
but see the response to the first comment above for the way that parents and people 
with disabilities are treated.

4. Why not, but I believe landlord should pay the council tax. If the landlord would not 
pay council tax and maybe other taxed due to the fact of having a low-income 
person, he may be more inclined to have them as a tenant? This could be a sort of 
subsidized social housing..
Response: In most circumstances the resident is liable for the Council Tax charge. 
This is a feature of the Council Tax scheme that is set by the government, and 
Oxford City Council has no control over it.

5. Why do we pay council tax on the value of the property on 1 April 1991?
Response: This is a feature of the Council Tax scheme that is set by the government, 
and Oxford City Council has no control over it.

6. This is very financially worded and difficult to understand. It needs to be explained in 
plain English. If someone is just 1p above a band they lose 25% discount, the bands 
are too wide, there should be at least 7 bands. How much deduction is made for non-
dependants?
Response: A feature of any income band scheme is that there are sharp increases or 
decreases at the margins of each band. The benefit for those at the lower part of a 
band is that they can significantly increase their earnings without having to pay more 
Council Tax. 

19



Appendix 1
Section 58 of the published scheme outlines the rules for non-dependant deductions: 
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4505/council_tax_reduction_for_working_a
ge_people_from_april_2018
Your comments in relation to the wording of the scheme are noted and will be taken 
into account when consulting on this matter in the future.

7. I think the bands should be uprated, but because of the high rents in Oxford will they 
not leave anyone on the so called higher bands in an impossible situation?
I must say I think this whole document very hard to understand.
Response: The Council are aware of the high cost of renting property in Oxford. This 
is one of the reasons why Councillors have not tried to make any savings in the 
amount of Council Tax support provided to people on low incomes.
Your comments in relation to the wording of the scheme are noted and will be taken 
into account when consulting on this matter in the future.

8. Bands 3 and 4 should be merged on the basis that too few employers in Oxford are 
actually paying the OLW (unfortunately) and therefore the 30 hours calculation 
should be based on NMW and all those at that level of income should have 50% 
discount.
Response: When the income band scheme was introduced last year, it led to a small 
increase in the overall amount of support provided. Any increase in support is a direct 
cost to the City Council, County Council and Thames Valley Police Commissioner. 
Oxford City Council provides one of the most generous schemes of support in the 
country, but a balance must be struck between ensuring people receive support and 
the additional cost burden that would be faced by Council Tax payers when 
increasing that support.

9. The income of poor people fluctuates sporadically. It is no good making assessments 
on the basis of their last year's income, if the current year's income has dropped 
catastrophically. Where is your provision for discovering their present income? Also 
the notes do not state the 'Oxford living wage' - it is an expensive city to live in - nor 
the meaning of 'over-25s'. The proposal can't be assessed without more specification
Response: The income band scheme is based on an individual’s Universal Credit 
award which is reassessed monthly. As such if someone has had a reduction in their 
income, their Council Tax Reduction will be reassessed. The Oxford Living Wage is 
referenced in the scheme, and over 25’s refers to a person’s age. The national 
minimum wage has a number of different rates, and the highest rate is for people 
over the age of 25.

10. Everyone should be treated equally and not classed as any different from anyone 
else purely based on the area of which they live and if they are in employment.
Response: Noted

11. If you are reliant on benefits then depending on your payments and how much you 
may have in savings then council tax benefit should be calculated by this.
Response: The Council introduced the income band scheme to simplify the system 
for providing support for Council Tax. This change has led to a small increase in the 
amount of support provided to people, however in some cases people might lose out. 
Where this happens, people can apply for a discretionary reduction. Details of this 
process are here: 
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20036/discounts_and_exemptions/936/council_tax_di
scretionary_discount

20

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4505/council_tax_reduction_for_working_age_people_from_april_2018
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4505/council_tax_reduction_for_working_age_people_from_april_2018
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20036/discounts_and_exemptions/936/council_tax_discretionary_discount
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20036/discounts_and_exemptions/936/council_tax_discretionary_discount


Appendix 1
12. This is too complicated - I don't understand

Response: We are sorry for the complicated wording. We will take this into account 
when consulting on this matter in the future.

13. It fails to take into account individual circumstances
Response: The scheme does account for individual circumstances as the amount of 
support provided depends on an individual’s basic Universal Credit award and the 
amount of their earnings.

14. I would need more information here to make an informed judgment on how this 
actually effects people and how it compares to their current situation.
Response: Noted

15. You say "Uprating the bands in this way will ensure that no-one has to make more 
Council Tax as a result of getting a pay rise." I assume you mean "make more 
Council Tax *payments*"
Response: That is correct. Apologies for this mistake.

MINIMUM INCOME FLOOR FOR CTR CLAIMANTS WHO ARE SELF-EMPLOYED 

What kinds of self-employment should be exempted from the minimum income floor?

As it is proposed to discontinue the minimum income floor, the specific suggestions in the 
responses below will not be taken forward.

16. Different people have different difficulties increasing their earnings eg disability , 
repeated ill health , looking after family . In spite of the administrative problems it 
should be case by case to be fair.
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

17. I think a minimum income floor completely defeats the purpose of a welfare support 
system that should be there to help people get through tough financial times. I 
believe that the minimum income floor along with the benefits cap and bedroom tax 
are flawed attempts at reducing benefit fraud that disproportionately punish those 
struggling on low incomes and fail in their objectives by creating an atmosphere of 
fear and anxiety for low wage earners. For the purposes of this consultation I would 
suggest the minimum income floor should not be applied to any self-employment 
whose income opportunities are capped by regulation; any self-employment that is 
seasonal or otherwise dependent on cycles of activity; and any self-employment that 
provides a service to the community. I would further suggest that any scheme should 
be able to fully recognise the individual's actual circumstances and make 
assessments based on that rather than some arbitrary figure.
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

18. Again, it is circumstances such as single-parenthood which make working a 35 hour 
week impossible therefore there should be a further exemption for this category.
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

19. Single/loan parent families; disabled; voluntary work
Response: Noted.

21



Appendix 1
20. Regardless of the kind of self-employment: Like people who are employed, who are 

full or part time, receive council tax reduction if they are on a 'low income’, the same 
should apply to the self employed. Exemptions should be made for the disabled or 
single parents who are self employed.
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

21. All self-employments
Response: Noted

22. I think it is very inequitable to assume a level of earning for all self-employed people 
and to single this group out . I can only assume this is for administrative convenience 
Self-employed people are likely to be subject to unexpected gaps and fluctuations in 
earnings , and many choose this option because of poor health or family 
commitments .
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

23. Qu 8 is misleading. I am against any minimum income floor in all cases.
Response: Noted

24. All those involved in the "caring" professions
Response: Noted

25. The harder question is to identify self-employment which is secure. But the range 
which is insecure is huge: not only child-minding, but other social work e.g. care for 
children with special needs which is subject to shortage of funding and unpredictable 
swings of funding, including swings from local government cut backs. Moreover, the 
choice of self-employment is due in 30% of cases to long-term health conditions, as 
pointed out by the Special Committee for Work and Pensions report on MIF for the 
self-employed.
Response: Noted, by discontinuing the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people, support will be based on the actual earnings of individuals.

26. Why are we being asked to differentiate between different self-employed people?
Response: Noted

27. I feel that all working people on low incomes should have equality of access to CTR, 
regardless of whether they are employed or self-employed. Many disabled people 
work in a self-employed capacity because their disability means that employment is 
not accessible to them and self-employment offers them meaningful work and an 
important contribution to the economy and society. This is a strong reason to support 
their continued self-employment, rather than risk causing unemployment. Self-
employed people who are single parents or who have other caring responsibilities 
need to work around their caring responsibilities. This group should also be allowed 
to continue in meaningful self-employment.
Response: Noted

28. Child-minders.
Response: Noted.

22



Appendix 1
Please provide any comments you have on the minimum income floor.

29. It is clearly inequitable to single out a particular group. Especially as the self-
employed are likely to comprise those with fluctuating hours and pay, having to work 
around health problems or family care . How can you calculate and assume a 
minimum income level?
Response: The level was set at the same rate as that which is used within Universal 
Credit. After reviewing it, the Council is proposing to discontinue it, partly for the 
reasons you have outlined.

30. Self-employed people should be able to take holidays the same as employed people 
and therefore applying the minimum income floor 52 weeks a year seems unfair. The 
effect of this is that anyone hoping to take 4 weeks annual leave will have to earn 
£296.89 per week. The minimum income floor means that anyone trying to support 
themselves will not get support when they actually need it. The imposition of a 
minimum income floor puts the burden of tackling the low wage economy on the 
individual and fails to recognise that they have no power to change things. It adds a 
further burden to those already struggling on subsistence levels of income and takes 
the dignity out of low paid labour.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

31. Single parents and carers should have further exemptions unless they are high 
earners.
Response: The circumstances you have outlined are taken into account within the 
CTR scheme as a whole, although not specifically in the way the minimum income 
floor operates.

32. Q 10 is too loaded. What if you think exemptions should be considered indefinitely? If 
you are a lone/disabled parent, you are possibly always going to be one!
Response: Noted

33. In principle I agree, if it is to encourage local businesses. But this again depends on 
the income of the business in question. Exemption should be based on the low 
income of businesses (whether run by self-employed or not).
Response: Noted

34. It is impossible to judge the majority of self-employment on set minimum income 
levels, set minimum hours. It should be on more in line with employees but making 
allowances for self-employed costs and expenses.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

35. It is wrong have a minimum income floor, it cripples start up businesses, discourages 
entrepreneurs from opening businesses, if they know they have to get to a certain 
level of income to make it worthwhile. The MIF makes it less likely that people will 
learn the business skills which will inevitably be useful after Brexit, and indeed 
whatever happens in individual cases some businesses simply won't get off the 
ground. It is intensely annoying that disabled business-people and those with 
childcare responsibilities will be less likely to start a business. These are businesses 
that Oxford and the country needs, and this will simply stifle the economy at this 
level. There are nearly 6 million businesses in the UK with under 10 employees, this 
is key to the UK economy, so why would you want to hinder economic growth? It is 
extremely short term thinking, highly counter-productive and needs a complete 
review.

23



Appendix 1
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

36. It takes longer to establish a business than 1 year so should be increased to 3 years.
Response: Noted

37. It is totally unjust, and is untrue, to assume that every self-employed individual is 
earning at least £274.05 per week. Because of unpredictabilities mentioned above, 
their weekly income may drop to zero for periods. You must have a system of finding 
out what current income is and provide the opportunity for individuals to make their 
position clear to you. See also alternatives below
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

38. New businesses need time to establish a base for how much custom they will get 
and the reflection in the income of the business.
Response: Noted

39. Surely there should be different options / rules for disabled people?
Response: The circumstances of disabled people are taken into account within the 
CTR scheme as a whole, although not specifically in the way the minimum income 
floor operates.

40. I would continue with the current schema.
Response: Noted

41. I think the MIF is an absolutely terrible idea, and I am not surprised that it's received 
strong criticism (for example: "MPs and campaigners to call for a rethink" – 
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/mar/25/universal-credit-self-employed-
benefit-slash). 
Response: Noted 

42. The assumption that self-employed people earn nearly £10,000 a year is laughable: 
it's an exceedingly high figure which demonstrates just how disconnected 
policymakers are from the poorest citizens. 
Response: Noted

43. The idea that this assumed income level will "encourage self-employed people to 
increase their hours of work", suggesting that all poor people need is a little 
motivation is cruelly insulting. As if the poverty itself isn't motivation enough; as if 
being self-employed isn't already a daily struggle to make ends meet.
Response: This was not the intention of this statement, but the point is understood

44. For many people, the choice is not between ‘regular employment’ and self-
employment, the choice is self-employment or unemployment. Being self-employed 
is the one way that those who cannot meet the necessities of regular employment 
(due to e.g. childcare, illness or disability, lack of opportunity, etc.) can still work hard, 
not lean more heavily on the welfare state, and not fall through the cracks. The MIF 
attacks, insults and threatens these people – that feels deeply unjust.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

45. It is highly unfair, and discriminatory against people who are trying to lift themselves 
out of poverty through self-employment. For example, I am a disabled person, and 
have slowly and organically brought myself back into work via self-employment. 

24



Appendix 1
While I do work more than 30 hours a week, I only get paid for about 16 hours at the 
minimum wage level. This is because my disability makes it take far longer to 
complete work tasks than an able bodied person. A MIF fails to take that into 
account. As a result, because I am hit with a hefty Council Tax bill, I am now FAR 
below the breadline, but the MIF will refuse to take that into account. I am now far 
worse off than if I was simply unemployed. Most people would give up work at this 
point.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

46. Question 10 does not offer the respondent the opportunity to disagree with the 
principle of creating a finite exemption period. I do not agree that there should be a 
finite exemption period for self-employed people, particularly those who are disabled 
and those who are single parents.
The Special Committee for Work and Pensions' report on MIF for the self-employed 
points out that, "45% of self-employed claimants with children need to work around 
childcare or other caring responsibilities, and 30% have a long-term physical or 
mental health condition" and "Several self-employed people, and organisations 
supporting them, told us that the consequence of the MIF for them would not be 
increasing their income or taking an employee job (which they felt was unviable), but 
unemployment or a major shortfall in income."
The creation of MIF, the minimum income floor, is damaging the lives of thousands of 
self-employed families across the country. MIF is an assumed amount of income 
used in calculating in work benefits for the self-employed. This means, unlike other 
working people, the self-employed are not assessed on actual financial earnings or 
hours of work. Where as employees on comparable low incomes continue to be 
assessed on their actual earnings, the self-employed are assumed to work 52 weeks 
a year for 35 hours a week, with no holidays, public holidays or sick pay, a situation 
which would be illegal for any employer to impose on an employee. There is no 
account taken in these calculations of the overheads for small businesses including 
material expenses, equipment, marketing outlay, travel, premises, light, heat etc etc.
There were 0.55 million self-employed people living in households below average 
income in the UK in 2017 (Joseph Rowntree Foundation, www.jrf.org.uk). This policy 
disproportionately targets the disabled and lone parents who are contributing 
valuable skills to their communities and have found work that is accessible to them 
and can accommodate their physical impairments and their childcare responsibilities. 
In fact 16%, 750,000, of the self-employed in 2017 were registered disabled 
(https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/is-self-employment-taylor-made-
for-people-with-disabilities/).
I appreciate that abolishing Council tax reduction for the self-employed may save the 
council thousands of pounds, which no doubt are desperately needed, but it is also 
causing enormous financial hardship and will inevitably lead to many small 
businesses folding under the strain. This has the potential to be counterproductive in 
the short and long term, as disabled and able bodied self-employed people join the 
ranks of the unemployed.
Disabled people, single parents and self-employed people have suffered a great deal 
under the austerity policies of this government and many have been forced into debt 
and into despair. It would seem discriminatory to offer all other working people in 
Oxford access to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, whether they are part or full 
time employed, but not self-employed people.
Response: Thank you for taking the time to provide such a considered and detailed 
response. After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

25



Appendix 1
47. People starting as self-employed should have a concessionary window of more time 

as they build their business. i.e People that start a business through some aspect of 
crafting will need to allow time to grow their clientele and profits before being charged 
at a certain rate.
Response: Noted

Alternative funding options

48. The council tax banding is unfair because it doesn't differentiate wealthy owners of 
expensive properties from those much poorer.
Response: This is a feature of the Council Tax scheme that is set by the government, 
and Oxford City Council has no control over it.

49. Add further Council Tax Bands for properties worth over 500,000 and 1,000,000 and 
charge a premium for those properties.
Response: Oxford City Council is unable to change the Council Tax bands or create 
new bands., only the government can make this change.

50. Why not tax people for stalling with their engines on in their cars? Or tax every empty 
seat in cars? Or fly-tipping? Littering? Public urination? Vandalism? Why not have a 
two-tiered system for business rates for big and small businesses so that small 
businesses aren't punished and eventually pushed out?
Response: There is a national scheme of relief form business rates for small 
businesses. Your other suggestions will be passed on to the Head of Financial 
Services

51. Introduce a (joint with the county) congestion charge + work-place parking levy and 
share the income. Stop selling-off Council land to the highest bidder/for commercial-
retail developments and use it to provide affordable housing that raises income 
(working with community-led housing groups).
Response: The council assesses all Council owned sites for their affordable housing 
development potential, and there have been no recent sales of sites for 
commercial/retail developments where there was a potential to use them for housing. 
Your other suggestions have been been passed on to the Councils Head of Financial 
Services for consideration.

52. To the above questions 12-13-14 are unclear: to whom would you increase the 
Council Tax? Which services would you cut/reduce? What fees/charges would you 
introduce? Oxford Colleges and new developments such as the west gate for 
example should provide ample funds to Oxford Council.  Heavily taxing cars and 
traffic in the city centre. Heavily taxing those on the highest incomes.
Response: The Council is not permitted to levy an income tax. Your suggestion on 
taxing traffic will be passed to the Head of Financial Services.

53. Why can't council tax bands be distributed more fairly? As it is large and in Oxford 
extremely expensive properties pay no more than moderate ones .
Response: Oxford City Council is unable to change the Council Tax bands or create 
new bands. Only the government can make this change.

54. Adjust the banding by investing in a new valuation exercise. Then increase the rate 
on the top bands and lower it on the bottom.
Response: Oxford City Council is unable to make this change only the government 
can arrange a revaluation.

26



Appendix 1
55. Vote Labour & we can all have the level of services we once had! NO more 

Austerity!!!
Response: Noted.

56. Besides increasing Council tax for the better off, the house banding should be far 
more flexible, with owners of houses worth millions of pounds paying a very much 
higher rate. In addition, I recognise that Central Government has imposed on 
Councils the need to supplement their own inadequate social provision. I would 
contribute myself to a voluntary extra donation for a limited period, if every member 
of Council did so according to their means and the Oxford Council raised a voluntary 
fund from the Oxford public. A few thousand contributions could provide more than 
you would get from the unjust imposition of an imaginary MIF on some of the worst 
off in the community.
Response: Your suggestion of voluntary contributions will be passed to the Head of 
Financial Services

57. How about being clearer about hat these last questions actually mean?
Response: We are sorry that this was unclear. We will bear your comment in mind 
when conducting future consultation on this issue.

58. Instead of increasing bills for those with the lowest incomes (who could be pushed 
into dire circumstances), why not for those with the highest incomes?
Response: The Council is unable to increase Council Tax bills for people on high 
incomes. Only the government can make this change.

59. Take into account individual circumstances. By not doing so, you make an 
assumption that because someone is self employed and works a number of hours, 
that their income matches that of an able-bodied person. This is not true. There are 
so many circumstances that need to be looked at and a single, immutable calculation 
is discriminatory - especially against the disabled. I have even considered court 
action against this system because it is blatant discrimination when the scheme 
refuses to incorporate disability into earning potential or productivity output.
Response: It is proposed to discontinue the minimum income floor for self-employed 
people.

60. Questions 12,13 and 14 do NOT offer the 'unsure' response or 'I don't know'. I am not 
clear on what the statement options mean. 'Increase the level of council tax' for 
whom? Cutting which council services? And what does fees and charges mean? The 
questions are unclear. I don't understand what options are being offered because 
they are so general. I would also have liked to have seen more specific alternative 
options to funding the CTR scheme. For instance Oxford city is home to some of the 
wealthiest people in the country and to many second homes. Could the council not 
look to its wealthiest residents to pay a little more council tax, rather than put the 
onus on its poorest and most vulnerable?
Response: We are sorry that these questions were not specific enough. We will bear 
your comment in mind when conducting future consultation on this issue. The 
Council cannot levy any additional charge, but a suggestion has been made above to 
consider a voluntary charge. This will be passed to the Head of Financial Services for 
consideration.

Other comments on the CTR scheme

61. I am very happy that our Council recognises the problems that would be caused if 
there was no help for people who struggle to pay their Council Tax. Withdrawing all 
support is likely to lead to many struggling people facing increased costs, criminal 

27



Appendix 1
prosecution and imprisonment for being poor, so thank you. Also, following the 
administration methods of Universal Credit and assessing people's income every 
month for ever in order to calculate their entitlement is costly and counterproductive if 
the aim is to reduce costs. Assessing income annually and using an average is much 
more effective in terms of administrative costs to the council and also much easier for 
self-employed people to administer. And it gives a fairer benefit outcome since it 
allows the high earning periods to contribute to the low earning periods in a way that 
monthly assessment does not.
Response: For self-employed people who are not on Universal Credit, it is the annual 
earnings which are used to assess the amount of support. It is proposed to 
discontinue the minimum income floor which will mean that from next year, 
calculations will be based on actual earnings.

62. If Oxford City Council truly wants to build a "world class city for everyone" it should 
put its money where its mouth is. Everyone is not just big business and high-earners, 
it's everyone. I have lived in Oxford on and off for several years and have seen how 
commercial interests have been put before any environmental or heritage 
considerations. Given that the council is in the hands of the Greens and Labour, I 
hope that this will inaugurate positive change.
Response: Noted

63. Using MIF the minimum income floor to assess income means that it will discriminate 
against self-employed people who will not receive council tax reduction in Oxford.
This is unlike people who are employed, who whether they are in full or part time, 
receive council tax reduction if they are on a 'low income’. There is no sliding scale 
and no exemptions for the disabled or single parents. Oxford City Council (majority 
Labour) have chosen to pursue this policy voluntarily to save money, going against 
Labour principles of inclusion, social democracy, and improving the lives of the most 
vulnerable.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

64. CT is an extremely heavy financial burden on too many residents. CTR is vital but in 
its current form it is still exacerbating inequality.
Response: Oxford City Council provides one of the most generous CTR schemes in 
the country. The proposal to discontinue the minimum income floor will remove an 
element of inequality within the scheme.

65. Please vote Labour & you will get funding from the government.
Response: Noted.

66. It is a very helpful scheme to help people get out of poverty - provided the scheme is 
applied using common sense rather than a single-solution cookie-cutter approach. 
We are human beings with different skills and abilities. Just because someone works 
35 hours a week, it does NOT mean they are at the same level of productivity or 
earning potential. Additionally, self-employed people have far wider expenses than 
employees, and this is not taken into account either. I am currently surviving on an 
income of less than £100 per week. Without the help from the scheme I would never 
be able to find myself in a position where I can increase this. The added stress and 
exacerbation of symptoms caused by this MIF assumption has been devastating. In a 
modern society, we should be going out of our way to make the journey from poverty 
as motivating as possible. But us self-employed and disabled people are just crushed 
by a system that apparently refuses to acknowledge our existence or contribution.
Response: After reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is proposing to 
discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

28



Appendix 1

67. As a member of the Labour party I am more than disappointed that the majority 
Labour, local city council seems to be out of kilter with the national Labour party's 
mandate, 'not for the few but for the many'. It's a great shame to choose to hit 
hardest the poorest and most vulnerable in our city in order to balance the books.
Response: Oxford City Council provides one of the most generous CTR schemes in 
the country. However after reviewing the minimum income floor, the Council is 
proposing to discontinue it, partly for the reasons you have outlined.

29



This page is intentionally left blank



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

CTR schme becomes 

inefficient to adminster

The migration to 

Universal Credit results 

in a CTR scheme whichis 

relatively expensive to 

adminster

Opp CTR is currently aligned to 

the Houisng Beneift 

regulations. As customers 

migrate to Universal 

Credit, maintaining such a 

complex scheme is 

unnecessary

The Council fails to 

achieve potential 

efficiency savings from a 

better scheme design

Sept 18 James Pickering 2 4 1 2 1 2 Introducing the banded 

scheme removes the 

complicated means testing 

of UC

31/3/19 100 James Pickering

Increased customer 

contact

Customers are 

concerned at potential 

changes to the support 

they get and contact the 

Council about them.

Threat Poor explanation of 

changes, and no mitigation 

planned.

Customers are not clear 

about the impact of the 

changes.

Sept 18 James Pickering 2 2 1 1 1 1 The banding based 

approach to CTRS makes 

the scheme easier to 

explain.  The further 

changes proposed for 

19/20 should simplify the 

scheme and make 

communication of it more 

straightforward

15/3/19 50 Laura Bessell

Council reputation Proposals for changes 

not clearly thought 

through, and impact not 

properly understood, 

resulting in damage to 

Council reputation

Opp Insufficient modelling 

undertaken, and/or impact 

of changes not properly 

understood. Scheme 

poorly drafted.

Informed customers spot 

impacts of changes that 

the Council has not 

properly identified, 

undermining  the 

proposals for the revised 

scheme.

June 17 James Pickering 3 3 3 2 3 2 Expert team from different 

service areas assembled 

to work on the proposals, 

time taken to model 

changes and understand 

customer impact. Expert in 

CTR legislation 

commissioned to drfat the 

scheme.

28/2/19 100 James Pickering

Implementation of 

Scheme

There may not be time to 

implement and test the 

necessary software 

changes pror to the 

annual Council Tax 

billing process.

Threat Lack of resource allocated 

ot testing process and 

additional resource 

required for testing of 

other Academy 

functionality

Unable to implement the 

income band schme

May 18 James Pickering 3 3 2 2 1 1 Learning from 18/19 as to 

the amount of testing 

required resulted in CTR 

functionality testing 

incorporated into the end 

of year plan for the 

Academy software system.

01/3/18 25 Laura Bessell

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

31

JMitchell
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix  3

HR&F3029   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 1 of 5

Initial Equalities Impact Assessment screening form

Prior to making the decision, the Council’s decision makers considered the following: guide 
to decision making under the Equality Act 2010: 

The Council is a public authority.  All public authorities when exercising public functions are 
caught by the Equality Act 2010 which became law in December 2011.  In making any 
decisions and proposals, the Council - specifically members and officers - are required to 
have due regard to the 9 protected characteristics defined under the Act.  These protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, race, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and marriage & civil partnership 

The decision maker(s) must specifically consider those protected by the above 
characteristics:
(a) To seek to ensure equality of treatment towards service users and employees;
(b) To identify the potential impact of the proposal or decision upon them.  

The Council will also ask that officers specifically consider whether:
(A)  The policy, strategy or spending decisions could have an impact on safeguarding and 

/ or the welfare of children and vulnerable adults 
(B) The proposed policy / service is likely to have any significant impact on mental 

wellbeing / community resilience (staff or residents)

If the Council fails to give ‘due regard’, the Council is likely to face a Court challenge.  This 
will either be through a judicial review of its decision making, the decision may be quashed 
and/or returned for it to have to be made again, which can be costly and time-consuming 
diversion for the Council. When considering ‘due regard’, decision makers must consider the 
following principles:

1. The decision maker is responsible for identifying whether there is an issue and 
discharging it.  The threshold for one of the duties to be triggered is low and will be 
triggered where there is any issue which needs at least to be addressed. 

2. The duties arise before the decision or proposal is made, and not after and are 
ongoing.  They require advance consideration by the policy decision maker with 
conscientiousness, rigour and an open mind.  The duty is similar to an open 
consultation process.

3. The decision maker must be aware of the needs of the duty.
4. The impact of the proposal or decision must be properly understood first. The 

amount of regard due will depend on the individual circumstances of each case.  The 
greater the potential impact, the greater the regard.  

5. Get your facts straight first! There will be no due regard at all if the decision maker 
or those advising it make a fundamental error of fact (e.g. because of failing to 
properly inform yourself about the impact of a particular decision). 

33



Appendix  3

HR&F3029   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 2 of 5

6. What does ‘due regard’ entail? 
a. Collection and consideration of data and information; 
b. Ensuring data is sufficient to assess the decision/any potential 

discrimination/ensure equality of opportunity; 
c. Proper appreciation of the extent, nature and duration of the proposal or 

decision.
7. Responsibility for discharging can’t be delegated or sub-contracted (although an 

equality impact assessment (“EIA”) can be undertaken by officers, decision makers 
must be sufficiently aware of the outcome).

8. Document the process of having due regard!  Keep records and make it transparent!  
If in any doubt carry out an equality impact assessment (“EIA”), to test whether a 
policy will impact differentially or not.  Evidentially an EIA will be the best way of 
defending a legal challenge.  See hyperlink for the questions you should consider 
http://occweb/files/seealsodocs/93561/Equalities%20-
%20Initial%20Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20screening%20template.doc

1. Within the aims and objectives of the policy or strategy which group (s) of people 
has been identified as being potentially disadvantaged by your proposals? What are 
the equality impacts? 

Council Tax Reduction is claimed by low income households in the city.  The 
proposals for 2019/20 should not disadvantage any groups as they are designed to 
make the scheme more generous.  Increasing the income bands ensures CTR 
claimants who receive an hourly pay increase in line with the national and Oxford 
living wage are not disproportionately affected by moving into a band with less CTR 
available.  The removal of the minimum income floor for self-employed earners will 
remove an existing inequality by treating self-employed and employed customers in 
the same way by calculating any CTR entitlement using their actual earned income.

The proposals will affect groups with protected characteristics in the following ways:

Race
It is not intended that this policy will disproportionately affect any particular 
ethnicity.  However BAME groups are over represented in the existing CTR caseload, 
compared to Oxford as a whole. 

Disability
No adverse impact

Gender or Gender Identity/Gender Assignment
There are a greater proportion of female claimants than male within the current CTR 
caseload.  This will therefore affect more women than men of working age.

Sexual Orientation
No adverse impact

Age 

34

http://occweb/files/seealsodocs/93561/Equalities%20-%20Initial%20Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20screening%20template.doc
http://occweb/files/seealsodocs/93561/Equalities%20-%20Initial%20Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20screening%20template.doc


Appendix  3

HR&F3029   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 3 of 5

The impact of this policy will be felt by people of working age, as national legislation 
prevents changes being made to the pension age CTR scheme. 

Religion, Faith and Belief
No adverse impact

2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or proposed new or 
changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or service to minimise or eliminate the 
adverse equality impacts? 

      Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for 
      making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the 
      changes on the resultant action plan 

Increasing the income bands ensures CTR claimants who receive an hourly pay 
increase in line with the national and Oxford living wage are not disproportionately 
affected by moving into a band with less CTR available.  The removal of the minimum 
income floor for self-employed earners will remove an existing inequality by treating 
self-employed and employed customers in the same way by calculating any CTR 
entitlement using their actual earned income.

The parameters for adjusting the income bands will be made and customers affected 
will be notified as part of the Council Tax annual billing process.

Self-employed claimants will be identified and cases will be adjusted manually to 
ensure accuracy in the calculation of earnings and will be notified as part of the 
Council Tax annual billing process.

If customers feel they are experiencing hardship, there is provision for discretionary 
payments to be made to people within the existing Council Tax regulations. 

3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed changes and if you 
do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that decision. 

           Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in  
           decisions that impact on them
  

35



Appendix  3

HR&F3029   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 4 of 5

Consultation has been conducted and details of the responses are provided at 
Appendix 2 of this report.

4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be justified 
without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, strategy, procedure, 
project or service? 

      Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments

There are no adverse impacts anticipated. 

5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes after 
implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for unexpected 
equality impacts. 

      Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your 
      proposals and when the review will take place 

Self-employed claimants have their claims reviewed regularly to ensure the earned 
income used in the calculation is accurate.

The impact will also be monitored via applications for discretionary support and this 
should highlight any areas of concern.

Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: James Pickering

Role: Welfare Reform Manager

Date:   3 December 2018
    
Note, please consider & include the following areas:

36



Appendix  3

HR&F3029   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 5 of 5

 Summary of the impacts of any individual policies
 Specific impact tests (e.g. statutory equality duties, social, regeneration and 

sustainability)
 Consultation 
 Post implementation review plan (consider the basis for the review, objectives and 

how these will be measured, impacts and outcomes including the “unknown”)
 Potential data sources (attach hyperlinks including Government impact assessments 

or Oxfordshire data observatory information where relevant)

37



This page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 22 January 2019
Report of: Head of Financial Services
Title of Report: Treasury Management Mid-Year Review for April – 

September 2018

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To report on the performance of the Treasury 

Management function for the 6 months to 30th September 
2018

Key decision: No
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Ed Turner, (Deputy Leader) Finance, Asset 
Management and Public Health

Corporate Priority: None
Policy Framework: Efficient and effective Council

Recommendation:That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Note the performance of the Treasury Management function for the six 
months to 30th September 2018.

Appendices
Appendix 1 List of investments as at 30th September 2018
Appendix 2 Risk Register

Introduction and Background 
1. This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury and has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management, covering the following:

 An economic overview for the first part of the 2018/19 financial year

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2018/19

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2018/19

 A statement of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2018/19

39

Agenda Item 6



2. The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during 
the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being 
invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before 
considering optimising investment return.

3. The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council 
can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer term cash 
may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives. 

Economic Overview
4. The first half of 2018/19 has seen a modest growth in the UK economy, but 

sufficiently robust enough for the Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC) to 
unanimously (9-0) vote to increase Bank Rate on 2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%.  
Although growth looks as if it will only be modest at around 1.5% in 2018, the Bank 
of England’s August Quarterly Inflation Report forecast that growth will pick up to 
1.8% in 2019, but much of this is dependent on an orderly withdrawal from the 
European Union in March 2019.

5. Some MPC members have expressed concerns about a build-up of inflationary 
pressures, particularly with the pound falling in value again against both the US 
dollar and the Euro.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation rose 
unexpectedly from 2.4% in June to 2.7% in August due to increases in volatile 
components, but is expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two 
years given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate.  The MPC has indicated 
Bank Rate would need to be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 for inflation to 
stay on track.  Financial markets are currently pricing in the next increase in Bank 
Rate for the second half of 2019.

6. Unemployment has continued at a rate of 4% on the Independent Labour 
Organisation measure.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-time high in 
July, together with negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that 
employers are now having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  
It was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to 2.9%, (3 month 
average regular pay, excluding bonuses) and to a one month figure in July of 3.1%.  
This meant that in real terms, earnings grew by about 0.4% (i.e. wage rate rises are 
higher than CPI inflation), near to the highest of 0.5% since 2009.  (The previous 
high point was in July 2015.)

Interest and Interest Rate Forecasts
7. The performance target rate for investment returns is 0.6% above base rate, 

equating to 1.1% from April until the beginning of August when the MPC voted 
unanimously to increase base rate by 0.25%, thereby proportionately increasing the 
Council’s target rate to 1.35%. The cumulative average rate of return on 
investments to 30th September 2017 was 1.13%, which is 0.22% below the 
performance target of 1.35%. 

40



8. The base rate rises in November 2017 and August 2018 have resulted in the 
Council not always exceeding its target rate of return which is 0.6% above base; 
this is due to the fact that the majority of the Council’s investments are held in fixed 
deposits and therefore, any investments arranged prior to November 2017 and 
those arranged between November 2017 and August 2018 did not benefit from the 
subsequent rises. This is a risk of which the Council is aware and seeks to manage 
by establishing an evenly distributed maturity profile where possible. However, 
given the volatile nature of cashflow, cash balances fluctuate throughout the year 
and it is important to maintain a liquid position so that financial obligations are met 
as and when they fall due.  There have been and continue to be some uncertainty 
in the timing of some significant financial transactions (such as the sale of the 
Council’s land at Oxpens and the purchase of properties at Barton).  To that end, 
the Council also holds a proportion of cash in instant access deposit facilities such 
as call accounts and money market funds. The inclusion of instant access cash 
instruments within the investment portfolio provides some advantage in as much as 
there is an instant benefit from any rate rises and availability of cash to meet 
expenditure of uncertain timing, however the downside to short deposits is that the 
interest rate will always produce a lower yield than longer term investments.

9. The MPC intimated once again that future bank rate increases will be gradual and 
would rise more steadily than before the 2008 crash, indicating that base rate will 
not reach 2.5% for another ten years, although they did not produce a medium term 
forecast.

10. The Council’s Treasury advisers, Link Asset Services, do not think that the MPC 
will further increase base rate until August 2019, although much is dependent on 
the final Brexit deal for the UK’s departure from the European Union in March 2019.

11. Currently, Link Asset Services interest rate forecast is as follows:

Investment Portfolio and Performance
12. The budgeted investment income for 2017/18 is £1.839 million. As at the 30th 

September 2018, forecast investment income for 2018/19 is £1.814m.  There are a 
number of reasons for the variation but the primary impact is reduced net interest 
from the Council’s companies due to expected slippage in their capital expenditure 
plans. 

41



13. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 was approved by this Council in 
February 2018; to date the Strategy has been fully adhered to and there are no 
proposed changes at this stage. 

14. As part of its Strategy, the Council aims to maintain a diversified investment 
portfolio whilst ensuring there are no policy and procedure breaches. Security of 
investments is always the primary concern when arranging investments with 
liquidity and yield being secondary, but key considerations. 

15. The Council operates an approved counterparty listing which details all institutions 
with whom the Council may invest, the maximum amount which may be invested 
with any single counterparty group at any given point and the maximum duration 
period. The counterparty list is set in association with recommendations from Link 
Asset Services although ultimate authorisation of approved counterparties rests 
with the Section 151 Officer. The list is actively managed and reviewed on a weekly 
basis or more regularly if required.

16. The strategy also adopts an ethical approach to investments, stating that:
“The Council will not knowingly invest directly in businesses whose activities and 
practices pose a risk of serious harm to individuals or groups, or whose activities 
are inconsistent with the Council’s mission and values.  This would include, inter 
alia, avoiding direct investment in institutions with material links to:

 Human rights abuse (e.g. child labour, political oppression)

 Environmentally harmful activities (e.g. pollutants, destruction of habitat, 
fossil fuels)

 Socially harmful activities (e.g. tobacco, gambling)”
17. Over the past quarter, there appears to be more awareness of ethical investments 

in the market with more counterparties introducing their own ethical policy and in 
some cases, establishing “green deposit” products into which customers may 
invest.

18. The Council has been able to take advantage of some green deposit notice 
accounts offered by Barclays Bank who are working in association with 
Sustainanalytics, a leading global provider of environmental, social and corporate 
governance research and ratings, to achieve a positive environmental impact. Their 
green framework covers the following environmental areas:

 Energy efficiency projects and renewable energy

 Sustainable food agriculture and forestry

 Waste management

 Greenhouse gas emission reduction

 Sustainable water
19. Initial deposits into the green deposits were placed in October 2018 and therefore, 

more detailed information regarding their performance will be included in the 
Treasury outturn report.

20. Concerns have been raised over Barclays’ funding of three pipelines to link 
Canada’s Alberta province with the country’s Pacific coast and the US which are 

42



connected with “tar sands” operations.  The Council has written to Barclays to 
express its concerns over this and is awaiting a response.

21. In May 2018, Council agreed to extend its existing loan facility to Low Carbon Hub.  
In 2013, the Council set up a loan facility for the value of £1.623m. Of this capital 
sum, £1.3m remained payable as at 30th September 2018, but interest is charged 
at an annual rate of 5% and collected on a monthly basis. The Financial Accounting 
team is in regular contact with Low Carbon Hub and they have repaid the loan in 
November 2018.

22. The chart below illustrates the Council’s performance against its benchmarks and 
also tracks inflation rates, thereby showing the Council’s return in “real terms”.  It is 
also important to note that the Council’s return – the Weighted Average Rate of 
Return (WARoR) – is significantly boosted by the Council’s investments in property 
funds and that without these the Council would not achieve its target rate. 

Property Funds
23. At present, the Council has placed investments with two property funds; CCLA 

Investment Management, which is a property fund that limits its investors to 
Charities, Churches and Local Authorities and Lothbury Investment Management, a 
specialist UK property fund manager with a range of funds providing high quality 
exposure to different property sectors.  

CCLA Investment Management Limited
24. The Council has held a £3m investment in the CCLA fund since September 2013. 

The investment has produced quarterly returns ranging between 5% and 6% and it 
is expected that the Fund will continue to achieve rates in this region. 

43



25. Additionally, the value of the Council’s investment with CCLA has appreciated from 
£3m to £3.86m as at 30th September 2018, equating to growth of 28.92% to date. 
However, the values of the individual unit prices have fluctuated over time and the 
effect of capital appreciation (and depreciation) is illustrated in the graph below.

26. Changes to the accounting rules on property funds means that the principal gain or 
loss will now be charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, 
rather than being held on the balance sheet.  However, following consultation by 
MHCLG the government has introduced a mandatory statutory override for local 
authorities to reverse out the effect for five years from 1st April 2018.  Even without 
the statutory override, the Council would have created a reserve to hold the funds 
until the return was realised due to the potential for fluctuations in the property 
markets.

27. The table below shows the gains and losses made on the fund each quarter this 
year (plus the figures at 31st March 2018 in order to show the opening position). It 
also details the quarterly dividends received. The Council holds 1,273,612 units in 
the Fund and the unit price is re-valued on a monthly basis, reflecting the current 
value of the investment (but not the interest).

Lothbury Investment Management
28. During 2014/15, the Council invested £7m in the Lothbury Property fund and the 

Fund has produced quarterly returns in the range of 3-4%. Furthermore, the Fund 
has seen a capital appreciation over the period with the value currently standing at 
just over £8.5m, compared with £7m at inception, equating to overall growth of 

44



21.75% to date. However, as with CCLA, the values of the individual unit prices 
have fluctuated over time and the effect of capital appreciation (and depreciation) is 
illustrated in the graph below. The changes to accounting rules will also affect the 
Lothbury Property Fund as explained in paragraph 26 above.

29. The table below shows the gains and losses made on the Fund each quarter this 
year (plus the figures at 31st March 2018 in order to show the opening position) as 
well as the quarterly dividends received. The Council holds 4,219 units in the fund 
and the unit price is re-valued on a monthly basis, reflecting the current value of the 
investment (but not the interest).

Investment Portfolio
30. As at 30th September, the Council’s total investment portfolio amounted to 

£102.6m, with £10m of this being held in property funds and £12.1m being held in 
instant access cash facilities. 

31. The graphs below illustrate how Council’s investment portfolio is distributed, both in 
terms of the type of investment and counterparty category:

45



32. Fixed deposits and certificates of deposits both have an agreed start and end date 
which are arranged where possible, to suit the cashflow requirements. However, as 
mentioned previously, it is also important to keep a proportion in instant access 
funds. 

33. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy limits non-specified investments to 
25% of the previous year’s average investment portfolio.  This limit is reviewed 
each year when setting the Strategy in order to ensure a balanced and diversified 
portfolio of investments. Property funds and investments in excess of 364 days are 
classified as non-specified due to the associated risk; property funds by nature are 

46



high risk due to the volatility of the market. There are several factors that deem 
longer term investments to be more risky in nature including the risk of interest rate 
rises and the commitment of cash for longer periods. 

34. £10 million is committed in the CCLA and Lothbury property funds and we are 
currently looking at utilising residual headroom to invest further in some non-
specified investments.  It should be noted that the £5 million invested in the 
National Homelessness Property Fund (Real Lettings) is, following discussions with 
our external auditors, classified as a service investment undertaken using service 
delivery powers rather than treasury powers under Section 12 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

35. The Strategy defines a specified investment as one that is in sterling, no more than 
one year in duration or, if in excess of one year can be repaid earlier on request 
and with counterparties that meet the Council’s credit rating criteria.  Additionally, 
once the duration of a non-specified investment falls below 366 days, it also falls 
into the Specified category. The maturity profile for the Council’s specified 
investments (equating to £80.5m when excluding the instant access cash) is 
illustrated below.

36. Traditionally, the Council does not have as high an inflow of cash in February and 
March as it does earlier in the financial year, hence the reason for so many 
maturities being arranged to mature in March. It is also worth noting that the 
Council is limited to a duration period of six months for the majority of its approved 
counterparties and therefore, investments arranged in February and March would 
most likely mature in August and September. However, as the majority of cash 
income that is received towards the latter end of the financial year is accounted for 
within the cash flow forecasts, there is not the capacity to arrange additional 
investments which is why there are currently no maturities forecast for August and 
September 2019. Should there be a cash requirement, the Council may arrange for 
some short-term investments to mature in August and September but as longer 

47



investments pay a higher yield, the Council will seek to invest for longer periods 
where possible. 

37. The graph below illustrates the same investments by duration period in order to 
demonstrate duration periods. It is not surprising that the majority of investments 
have a duration period of six months as this is the limit for most of the banks and 
building societies with whom the Council may invest. When the opportunity arises, 
longer investments are arranged to allow for a greater yield.

38. The 2018/19 budget has allowed for £1.84m interest from investments; as at 30th 
September 2018, total interest earned amounted to £0.901m and a revised forecast 
interest suggests that the Council will earn a further £0.987m in the second half of 
the financial year, bringing the overall total interest to £1.88m; the variance is 
primarily due to the base rate rise that occurred in August.

Borrowing
39. The Council has not taken on any additional debt during the year to date and so the 

balance of its external borrowing remains at approximately £198.5 million; this 
figure relates to funds borrowed from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) to buy 
out the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) from the subsidy system and relates 
wholly to Housing with interest repayment being met by the HRA. The Council does 
not consider that debt restructuring and/or premature repayment would be practical 
at this time as due to the differential in interest rates, the Council would incur a 
large premium from the PWLB for doing so.  The Council continues to monitor 
borrowing interest rates and forecasts on a regular basis and will continue to review 
its position on debt restructuring.

40. The Council anticipates borrowing in the future to meet its capital expenditure 
requirements, including loans to the Housing Company, but does not anticipate any 
external borrowing during 2018/19.  The levels of external borrowing currently 
anticipated are as follows: 
2019/20 £25.780 million
2020/21 £16.338 million
2021/22 £23.335 million

48



2022/23 £8.194 million
Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2018/19
41. The Council has operated all of its Treasury Management activity within the 

parameters set by the Treasury and Prudential indicators in the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2018/19.

Other Key Updates
Capital Strategy
42. In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 

(CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. As from 
2019/20, all local authorities will be required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is 
intended to provide the following:  

 a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
related treasury management activity (primarily borrowing) contribute to the 
provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 
43. A report setting out our Capital Strategy will be taken to CEB and then Council, 

before 31st March 2019. 
UK Banks – ring-fencing
44. The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-

sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate core retail 
banking services from their investment and international banking activities by 1st 
January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than 
£25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose to opt up. Several banks are very 
close to the threshold already and so may come into scope in the future regardless.

45. Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial 
crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment 
banking.  In general, simpler activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, 
(RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day core transactions, whilst more 
complex and “riskier” activities are required to be housed in a separate entity, a 
non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an entity’s core 
activities are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other members of 
its group and that the risks inherent in investment banking are removed from the 
retail customers.

46. While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, 
the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to 
assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with 
sufficiently high ratings will be considered for investment purposes.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID) II
47. Under the MiFID directive, local authorities must be categorised as ‘retail’ clients, 

with the ability to opt-up to elective professional client status should it have a 
business requirement to do so. MiFID II was implemented in January 2018 and the 
Council did indeed opt up to professional status; had the Council continued to be 
classified as a retail client after this date, it would have extremely limited access to 

49



the money markets as several of the approved counterparties, including the 
property funds, money market funds, brokers and indeed the Council’s own 
treasury advisors, stipulated that their clients must be classified as “professional” 
under the new directive. 

48. In order to ‘opt up’ from a retail client to an elective professional client, the Council 
had to fulfil several quantitative and qualitative criteria as prescribed by the 
Financial Conduct Authority in relation to its business as a local public authority or 
municipality (“Treasury Business”). 

49. As part of the process, the Treasury Manager had to provide evidence that all 
officers with Treasury responsibilities have the necessary expertise, experience 
and knowledge to conduct transactions envisaged in the respective markets; that 
the officers understand the nature of the risks involved with Treasury transactions 
and that 

50. The Council also had to fulfil the following criteria:

 That over 4 quarters prior to January 2018, it had conducted an average of 
10 transactions per quarter, in significant size, on the relevant market; or

 That the persons undertaking the transactions work or have worked in the 
financial sector for at least one year in a professional position, requiring 
knowledge of the provision of services envisaged; or 

 The authority is an ‘administering authority’ of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme

51. Oxford City Council fulfilled and continues to fulfil the first two requirements; it is 
exempt from the third criterion. 

52. As part of the “opting up” process, the Section 151 Officer had to sign a declaration 
acknowledging that being categorised as a Professional Client means that the 
Council will not benefit from the protections and investor compensation rights; the 
loss of these protections and rights were carefully considered and advice was 
sought from Link Asset Services.

IFRS 9 Accounting Standard
53. This accounting standard came into effect from 1st April 2018.  One of the changes 

means that the category of investments valued under the available for sale 
category will be removed and any potential fluctuations in market valuations will 
impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, rather than being held 
on the balance sheet.  This change is unlikely to materially affect the commonly 
used types of treasury management investments but more specialist types of 
investments (e.g. pooled funds, third party loans, commercial investments) are 
likely to be impacted.  Following the consultation undertaken by MHCLG on IFRS9 
the government has introduced a mandatory statutory override for local authorities 
to reverse out all unrealised fair value movements resulting from pooled investment 
funds. This will be effective from this financial year, 1 April 2018.  The statutory 
override applies for five years from this date. Local Authorities are required to 
disclose the net impact of the unrealised fair value movements in a separate 
unusable reserve throughout the duration of the override in order for the 
Government to keep the override under review and to maintain a form of 
transparency.

50



54. The other major effect of this accounting standard is to require authorities to make 
a provision for the loss of its investments based on an assessed risk.  Where 
provision is necessary, this cost will also be charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services, however the impact of this is also subject to the statutory 
override for 5 years following the MHCLG consultation.

Changes in Risk Appetite
55. The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on 

risk management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g. for moving 
surplus cash into or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of 
investment instruments, this change in risk appetite and policy should be brought to 
members’ attention in treasury management update reports. Oxford City Council 
has not made any significant changes to its investment approach at this time 
although there is the intention to further invest in property funds in the near future. 
The risk will continue to be managed by through understanding the individual 
investment vehicles and also by considering the appropriate percentage of non-
specified investments that can be held in the overall portfolio.

Treasury Advisor
56. Treasury advice and market information is provided by Link Asset Services, 

formerly known as Capita Asset Services.  The contract for Treasury Advisors was 
extended for two years in September 2016 and was due for retendering in 
September 2018.  The tender process has completed and Link Asset Services 
have again be awarded the Treasury Advisor contract for 3 years with an option to 
extend for a further 2.  Information provided by Link Asset Services is used to 
advise Council Officers when making investment decisions.

Financial Implications
57. Any financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Legal Issues
58. There are no legal implications directly relevant to this report.

Level of Risk
59. There are no risks in connection with the report’s recommendations. Risk 

assessment and management is a key part of Treasury Management activity 
especially in the selection of counterparties when considering investment 
opportunities. The Council uses external advisors and counterparty credit ratings 
issued by the rating agencies to assist in this process.

Equalities Impact 
60. There are no equalities impacts arising directly from this report.

51



Report author Bill Lewis

Job title Financial Accounting Manager
Service area or department Financial Services
Telephone 01865 252607 
e-mail blewis@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

52



OCC Investments as at: 30/09/2018 102,670,000.00 

Counterparty Group

 Group 

Operational 

Lending Limit Counterparty Name

 Investment 

Amount Interest Rate Trade Date Start Date Maturity Date

 Remaining 

Limit Broker

Barclays Bank (NRFB) 10,000,000.00   

Fixed Deposits

Call Account Barclays Bank BPA (call account) -                    0.20% 13/03/2018

6 months maturity limit

AT checked 25/06/2018

10,000,000.00 

Lloyds Banking Group (RFB) 15,000,000.00   

Lloyds Bank 175-day notice account -                    0.75% 27/07/2018 Direct

Bank of Scotland 1261 Bank of Scotland 5,000,000.00     0.90% 15/05/2018 15/05/2018 19/03/2019 Direct

£15m operational limit agreed by JY 02/08/16 1264 Bank of Scotland 3,000,000.00     1.00% 05/06/2018 05/06/2018 05/06/2019 Direct

364-day maturity limit

AT checked 25/06/2018 7,000,000.00   

Royal Bank of Scotland Group (RFB) 10,000,000.00   

RBS 

NatWest 1250 Royal Bank of Scotland Certificate of Deposit 1,000,000.00     0.78% 08/01/2018 09/01/2018 27/11/2018 King & Shaxson

1271 National Westminster Bank plc 5,000,000.00     0.98% 05/07/2018 05/07/2018 04/07/2019 R P Martin

364-day maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18 4,000,000.00   

Close Brothers 7,000,000.00     1272 Close Brothers 5,000,000.00     0.85% 05/09/2018 14/09/2018 14/03/2019 Tradition

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15 1273 Close Brothers 2,000,000.00     0.85% 05/09/2018 20/09/2018 20/02/2019 ICAP

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 25/06/2018

-                  

Goldman Sachs International 9,000,000.00     1255 Goldman Sachs International Bank 7,000,000.00     0.940% 09/04/2018 09/04/2018 09/10/2018 Tradition

£9m operational limit agreed by NK 16/06/2017 1265 Goldman Sachs International Bank 2,000,000.00     0.790% 05/06/2018 06/06/2018 06/12/2018 ICAP

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

-                  

HSBC Bank plc 10,000,000.00   

12 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

10,000,000.00 

Santander UK plc 7,000,000.00     Santander Instant Access Call Account -                    0.80% 31/05/2018

Corporate Notice Account Statement (31 days)

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15 Corporate Notice Account Statement (95 days) -                    

6 month maturity limit Corporate Notice Account Statement (180 days) -                    0.55%

AT checked 18/07/18

7,000,000.00   

SMBC 7,000,000.00     Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 2,500,000.00     0.73% 02/05/2018 02/05/2018 02/11/2018 Direct

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15 1263 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 4,500,000.00     0.67% 31/05/2018 01/06/2018 30/11/2018 Direct

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

-                  

Standard Chartered 7,000,000.00     1256 Standard Chartered Certificate of Deposit 3,000,000.00     0.93% 09/04/2018 13/04/2018 12/10/2018 King & Shaxson

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15 1268 Standard Chartered Certificate of Deposit 2,500,000.00     0.72% 14/06/2018 15/06/2018 17/12/2018 King & Shaxson

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

1,500,000.00   

Svenska Handelsbanken 7,000,000.00     

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 09/06/17 Instant Access Call Account 7,000,000.00     0.65% 03/09/2018

12 month maturity limit 35-day Notice Account

AT checked 18/07/18

-                  

Coventry Building Society 7,000,000.00     1260 Coventry Building Society 5,000,000.00     0.72% 10/05/2018 14/05/2018 14/11/2018 Tradition

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15 1266 Coventry Building Society 2,000,000.00     0.67% 07/06/2018 07/06/2018 07/12/2018 Tradition

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

-                  

Leeds Building Society 7,000,000.00     

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15

100 days maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

7,000,000.00   

Nationwide Building Society 10,000,000.00   

6 month maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

10,000,000.00 

Skipton Building Society 3,000,000.00     

100 days maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

3,000,000.00   

Yorkshire Building Society 7,000,000.00     

£7m operational limit agreed by NK 25/11/15

100 days maturity limit

AT checked 18/07/18

7,000,000.00   

Treasury Bills 7,000,000.00     

7,000,000.00   

Local Authorities 18,977,000.00   

£18,977m limit per authority

(20% of previous year's average balance) 1247 Blackburn with Darwen Council 3,000,000.00     0.60% 19/10/2017 31/01/2018 18/10/2018 15,977,000.00 Tradition

364 day maturity limit (specified only) 1269 Surrey County Council 5,000,000.00     0.80% 25/06/2018 09/07/2018 08/07/2019 13,977,000.00 Tradition

as per 2015/16 Strategy 

1257 Lancashire County Council 3,000,000.00     1.00% 09/04/2018 01/05/2018 01/05/2019 15,977,000.00 Tradition

1258 Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire 5,000,000.00     1.04% 24/04/2018 27/04/2018 26/04/2019 13,977,000.00 ICAP

1262 Lancashire County Council 5,000,000.00     0.70% 12/06/2018 02/07/2018 04/03/2019 10,977,000.00 ICAP

1267 Derbyshire County Council 5,000,000.00     0.65% 31/05/2018 25/06/2018 15/03/2019 13,977,000.00 Tradition

1270 Salford City Council 5,000,000.00     0.70% 02/07/2018 06/08/2018 07/05/2019 13,977,000.00 Tradition

Money Market Funds 25,000,000.00   

Overall limit increase approved by Council 29th Sept 2016 Legal and General Investment Management -                    19/09/2018

£9m operational limit per MMF agreed by JY 02/08/16 Federated Investors 5,170,000.00     28/09/2018  

Standard Life (Ignis) -                    20/08/2018

19,830,000.00 

Cash Plus Funds 15,000,000.00   

£15m operational limit of Fund agreed by JY 02/08/16 Royal London Cash Plus -                    15/01/2018

15,000,000.00 

Property Funds 20,525,000.00   CCLA 3,000,000.00     30/04/2013 30/04/2013

Lothbury 3,500,000.00     06/08/2014 06/08/2014

Lothbury 3,500,000.00     04/09/2014 04/09/2014

Unrated Building Societies (100 days maturity limit)

Local Authorities (2 years maturity limit) 

10,525,000.00 

Total Investments as at 05 December 2018 102,670,000.00 

FORWARD DEALS: (To be moved from this section to Investments List above once start date arrives)

Counterparty Group

 Group 

Operational 

Lending Limit Counterparty Name

 Investment 

Amount Intrest Rate Trade Date Start Date Maturity Date

 Remaining 

Limit Broker

Local Authorities 18,977,000.00   Rotherham MBC 5,000,000.00     0.90% 25/09/2018 15/10/2018 15/04/2019 13,977,000.00 

5,000,000.00-   

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS (Discuss with BL or AT (RS) before arranging non-specified investments)

OXFORD CITY COUNCIL LOANS LIST 2018/19

1

53

JMitchell_1
Typewritten Text
 

JMitchell_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Register Appendix 3

Risk ID Risk Mitigation

Risk Title Opportunity/Threa

t

Risk Description Risk Cause Consequence Date raised I P I P I P

1 Loss of capital 

investment due 

to a counterparty 

collapsing

T The Council loses its principal investment 

or an investment becomes impaired. 

Counterparty collapses or hits a 

financial crisis rendering it unable to 

repay investments. 

The Council may lose money or 

repayment of funds could be 

significantly delayed which could  

have an adverse impact on 

operational funding levels 

5-Aug-16 5 3 5 3 5 3 Reducing risk by limiting the use of high risk counterparties.

Imposing a maximum investment value on approved counterparties in order to spread and 

reduce risk. 

Controls and procedures are in place to ensure investment and durations limits with approved 

counterparties are not exceeded. Counterparties are also monitored and reviewed on a 

weekly basis at least, or more regularly if considered necessary to do so. 

2 Property fund 

investments lose 

value

T The value of the Council's units held in 

property fund investments decreases.

Uncertainty in the commercial property 

market following Brexit and slowdown 

in general economic activity.

Capital depreciation will decrease 

the overall value of the 

investment.

5-Aug-16 4 3 3 3 3 2 The Council receives monthly valuations from the property fund managers detailing the 

indicative redemption value of the individual units. These are reported to the Head of Finance 

on a monthly basis. The Council has the option to sell its units if there is a concern that the 

fund value is likely to decrease for a prolonged period. 

3 Decline in 

interest rates

T Interest rates continue to fall with very 

little prospect of upward movement in the 

next 12 months.

Economic growth forecasts remain 

subdued leading to low interest rates. 

Consequently lower risk counterparties 

tend to offer low investment rates.

The Council may not achieve its 

target level of interest.

5-Aug-16 2 3 2 3 2 3 In the current economic climate where rates tend to be static,  arranging investments over a 

longer period of time where possible will allow the Council to capitalise on a higher rate of 

return without there being an opportunity cost. 

The Council continually monitors base rate and rates being achieved against budget to ensure 

it has secured the best value possible in a difficult economic climate. 

4 Fraudulent 

activity

T Potential fraud by staff Fraudulent activity Loss of money for the Council

Disciplinary action for the staff 

involved

5-Aug-16 3 3 2 1 2 1 Segregation of staff duties, reviewing and monitoring of internal controls to ensure the correct 

protocol is being followed. Ensuring all insurance policies and the fidelity guarantee are fully 

up to date. 
5 Money 

laundering

T Money laundering by external parties External parties pay a transaction by 

cash and subsequently request a refund

Fine and/or imprisonment 5-Aug-16 4 2 4 1 4 1 Ensuring the money laundering policy is reviewed and up to date. Checking refunds back to 

source. 

Raising awareness of this issue amongst staff and reviewing the financial regulations. 

6 Network 

failure/Barclays.n

et being 

inaccessible

T The Council is unable to carry out its daily 

treasury functions due to a network failure

Barclays.net is unavailable or the 

Council's network has failed

Daily Treasury functions will not 

be carried out 

5-Aug-16 2 3 1 2 1 2 Invoke the business continuity plan to minimise the effects of a network issue. 

7 Revenue Budgets T Revenue budgets are unable to meet 

borrowing costs of capital schemes 

Revenue budgets come under pressure 

from restricted government funding or 

non delivery of programmed savings

The Council may not be able to 

execute some desired projects.

5-Aug-16 3 3 2 2 2 2 Revenue budgets monitored on monthly basis and future year forecasts undertaken. Reserve 

some capital receipts to cover borrowing costs in the short term. Monthly financial reports 

and forecasts.

8 Lack of suitable 

counterparties

T The Council does not have enough "space" 

with approved counterparties to place 

investments/deposit surplus cash 

balances. 

Rising cash balances and a restricted 

counterparty list

Use of counterparties not paying 

best value rates. 

5-Aug-16 3 4 3 3 3 3 The Council continually monitors its approved counterparty listing in conjunction with cash 

balances. Any potential new investment opportunities are discussed at Treasury Management 

performance meetings. The Council utilises money market and enhanced cash funds to 

deposit surplus cash balances in the event of no space with other counterparties and also to 

ensure there is always cash instantly available in order to meet payment obligations when 

they fall due. However, there are also limits on the amounts deposited to such funds. The 

Council has a facility to deposit cash with the Debt Management Office should all other 

investment options be exhausted. 

Current RiskGross Risk Residual RiskRisk

Treasury Management

1

55

JMitchell_3
Cross-Out

JMitchell_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Finance Panel Work Plan 2018/19
8 AND 9 JANUARY 2019 (BUDGET REVIEW GROUP)

16 JANUARY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS + BUDGET REVIEW GROUP
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 
for 2019/20 (post 
consultation)

Yes To review the Council Tax Reduction Scheme Leader, 
Economic 
Development 
and Partnership

James Pickering, 
Welfare Reform 
Manager

Treasury 
Management mid-
year report

Yes To consider the Treasury performance for the 
first half of the financial year (April – September 
2018) including an update on the investment and 
debt portfolios.

Finance, Asset 
Management

Bill Lewis, Financial 
Accounting Manager

30 JANUARY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS + BUDGET REVIEW GROUP
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Council Tax 
Exemption 
Monitoring

No To consider a report on the effectiveness of 
council tax exemption monitoring, and 
understand how rigorous the process is. 

Leader, 
Economic Dev 
and Partnerships

Tanya Bandekar, 
Service Manager- 
Revenues and Benefits

4 APRIL 2018 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Quarterly Integrated 
Report, Finance & 
Performance Q3

No Quarterly Integrated Report for Finance, 
Performance and Risk

Deputy Leader / 
Finance / Asset 
Management

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy Manager

57

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Notes of previous meeting
	5 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20
	Appendix 1 - consultation responses
	Appendix 2 - Risk Register 19-20
	Appendix 3 - Equalities Impact Assessment

	6 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report
	Appendix 1 Loans List 20180930
	Appendix 2 Risk Register TM Mid Year 201819

	7 Work plan



